### **Uldaho Law**

# Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs, All

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

2-15-2018

# Mulberry v. Burns Concrete, Inc. Appellant's Brief Dckt. 45184

### I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

## A. Summary Of The Case.

This is an unusual appeal because the judgment being appealed – which was prepared by Plaintiffs and has not been appealed by them – grants *Defendants/Appellants* the very relief requested in their answer: that Plaintiffs' complaint be dismissed with prejudice. Thus, neither Defendants nor Plaintiffs contest the terms of the judgment under appeal, although Defendants do contest the award of attorney fees and costs to Plaintiffs, whose complaint was dismissed with prejudice.

Yet this appeal was taken by Defendants not only to overturn the award of fees and costs to Plaintiffs, but in order to avoid additional litigation in the district court and appeals in this Court, to also overturn the district court's ruling on which its determination that Plaintiffs prevailed in this lawsuit is based: that the Undivided Right of First Refusal to Acquire Interest in Real Property attached hereto as **Exhibit A** (the "ROFR") was "extinguished" upon its assignment by one of the two Defendants to the other. In this regard, the district court's ruling that the ROFR was extinguished is erroneous for at least the following three independent reasons:

- The ROFR is an unambiguous stand-alone contract that is reasonably interpreted as being assignable without resort to parol evidence.
- Even if the assignment of the ROFR were a nullity, that would not affect the validity of the ROFR between the contracting parties.

 The ROFR is not appurtenant to a separate parcel of a real property that was sold by the grantors of the ROFR to its named beneficiary.

# B. Summary Of The Proceedings In The District Court.

Plaintiffs filed their verified complaint initiating this civil action on June 29, 2016. [R, p. 2.] Defendants filed a joint answer to the complaint on July 22, 2016. [R, p. 2.] No amended or other pleadings were filed by any party to this lawsuit.

Plaintiffs moved for the entry of partial summary judgment on August 22, 2016 [R, p. 3], a month after the answer was filed and without any party propounding discovery, and the motion was heard on September 22, 2016 [R, p. 3]. By its Memorandum Decision and Order Re: Motion for Partial Summary Judgment, filed November 10, 2016 ("Ist MSJ Decision"), the district court granted Plaintiffs summary judgment, holding, in part, that "[t]he ROFR was extinguished when Canyon Cove [Development Company, LLP] assigned the ROFR and conveyed its interest in the neighboring property to Burns [Concrete, Inc.]" [R, pp. 47 & 61.]

Because neither Plaintiffs nor Defendants had previously raised or addressed the question of whether the ROFR might have been "extinguished" upon its assignment to Burns Concrete, Inc., Defendants presented the legal authorities establishing why the ROFR was not extinguished upon its assignment by a motion for reconsideration filed December 30, 2016. [R, p. 4.] The district court denied Defendants' motion by the court's Memorandum Decision and Order Re: Motion for Reconsideration, filed March 20, 2017 ("2nd MSJ Decision"), again holding that "Canyon Cove's rights under the ROFR have been extinguished." [R, pp. 73 & 92.]

Plaintiffs then moved to dismiss all of their remaining claims by motion filed April 25, 2017 [R, p. 5], which was granted by the district court's order dismissing, with prejudice, Plaintiffs' remaining claims as moot filed April 27, 2017 [R, p. 94]. Also on April 27, 2017, the district court entered its Judgment, ordering that "all pending matters in the above entitled case are hereby dismissed, with prejudice." [R, p. 96.]

Defendants filed their notice of appeal on June 5, 2017 [R, p. 98], under and pursuant to I.A.R. 11(a)(1) with respect to an appeal from a final judgment and within the 42-day period required by I.A.R. 14(a).

Notwithstanding entry of the district court's order and Judgment dismissing all of Plaintiffs' claims with prejudice, Plaintiffs moved for an award of their costs and attorney fees on May 10, 2017 [R, p. 5], with the district court granting Plaintiffs their attorney fees and costs by the court's Memorandum Decision and Order Re: Attorney Fees and Costs, filed July 27, 2017 [R, pp. 102 & 112].

Finally, on August 2, 2017, Defendants filed their Amended Notice of Appeal to designate within the scope of this appeal the district court's grant of attorney fees and costs to Plaintiffs and to include copies of the district court's Judgment and Order granting attorney fees and costs. [R, p. 115-33.]

No appeal or cross-appeal of the Judgment was filed by Plaintiffs.

# C. Summary Of The Facts.

- (i) Parties.
- 1. Plaintiff Nora A. Mulberry ("Mulberry") is a resident of Bonneville Country and the sole owner of Plaintiff TN Properties LLC ("TN Properties"), an Idaho limited liability company. Complaint<sup>2</sup> ¶ 1 [R, p. 8]; Answer<sup>3</sup> ¶ 1 [R, p. 35].
- 2. Defendant Burns Concrete, Inc. ("Burns Concrete"), an Idaho corporation, has its principal place of business in Bonneville County. *Complaint* ¶ 3 [R, p. 9]; *Answer* ¶ 1 [R, p. 35].
- 3. Defendant Canyon Cove Development Company, LLP ("Canyon Cove"), an Idaho limited liability partnership, also has its principal place of business in Bonneville County. Complaint ¶ 4 [R, p. 9]; Answer ¶ 1 [R, p. 35].
  - (ii) Jurisdiction and Venue,
- 4. Jurisdiction exists in the district court under Idaho Code Sections 10-1201, et seq. Complaint ¶ 6 [R, p. 9]; Answer ¶ 1 [R, p. 35].
- 5. Venue exists in Bonneville County. Complaint ¶ 5 [R, p. 9]; Answer ¶ 1 [R, p. 35].
  - (iii) Material Terms of the ROFR.
  - 6. The terms of the ROFR include the following material provisions:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Hereinafter referred to as Facts.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Verified Complaint for Declaratory Judgment, filed June 29, 2016 ("Complaint") [R, pp. 8-34].

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Answer, filed July 22, 2016 ("Answer") [R, pp. 35-40].

For adequate consideration, Sellers hereby grant to the Buyer a right of first refusal to acquire the Sellers' undivided interest in and to the real property hereafter described on the same terms, conditions, and provisions as the Sellers might intend to sell and convey said interest to any third person hereafter.

Should the Sellers hereafter intend to sell in good faith and convey said premises they will first offer the same to the Buyer by a written notice containing all of the terms, conditions, and provisions by which they intend to sell in good faith the same to said third person. Buyer shall then have five (5) days from the date such notice is received to accept or refuse said offer.

Should the Buyer decline the offer, and the sale to the third party, for any reason not occur, then this option of first refusal should then be renewed and shall apply to any subsequent sale to a third party.

\* \* \*

This option agreement may be recorded in Bonneville County, Idaho. Thereafter, Sellers may record a notice in Bonneville County, Idaho, showing the date on which they gave their notice to Buyers, in order to give record notice of the beginning of the stated notice time period.

Complaint Ex. 5 at ¶¶ 1-4 (emphasis added) [R, p. 27]. Thus, the ROFR is a stand-alone contract that does not refer to any other transaction or property, states that it is based on adequate consideration, provides for its renewal or continuation in the event the encumbered property is not sold, and provides for notices to be given through recordation in the real property records—which together establish that the ROFR was intended to bind both Mulberry and her property.

### (iv) General Allegations.

7. On or about January 26, 1999, Mulberry and her now deceased husband, Theodore E. Mulberry, entered into a purchase and sale agreement (the "PSA") for the sale of

certain Bonneville County real property to Canyon Cove (the "Purchased Property"). Complaint ¶ 9 and Ex. 3 [R, pp. 9 & 17-19]; Answer ¶ 1 [R, p. 35].

- 8. The terms of the PSA were amended by an addendum entered into at the closing on the Purchased Property held March 18, 1999, which addendum provided for, among other things, the grant of the ROFR with respect to certain additional Bonneville County real property then owned by Mulberry and her now deceased husband (the "ROFR Property"). *Complaint* ¶ 10 and Ex. 4 [R, pp. 9 & 20-25]; *Answer* ¶ 2 [R, pp. 35-36].
- 9. The ROFR was also entered into on March 18, 1999, by Mulberry and her now deceased husband, as the defined "Sellers" of the ROFR Property, and Canyon Cove, as the defined "Buyer" of the ROFR Property. *Complaint* ¶¶ 10-11 and Ex. 5 [R, pp. 9-10 & 26-30]; *Answer* ¶ 2 [R, pp. 35-36].
- 10. The ROFR was recorded by the Bonneville County Recorder on March 19, 1999, thereby encumbering the ROFR Property. *Complaint* ¶ 11 and Ex. 5 [R, pp. 10 & 27]; *Answer* ¶ 3 [R, p. 36].
- 11. On March 30, 1999, Canyon Cover assigned its interest in the ROFR and a farm lease with respect to the Purchased Property to Burns Concrete. *Complaint* ¶ 12 and Ex. 6 [R, pp. 10 & 31-34]; *Answer* ¶ 4 [R, p. 36].
- 12. Canyon Cove also conveyed the Purchased Property to Burns Concrete by deed executed March 30, 1999, and subsequently recorded by the Bonneville County Recorder. 2d

Burns Aff.<sup>4</sup> ¶ 2 and Ex. A [R, pp. 63-64 & 67-69]. Thus, Burns Concrete acquired from Canyon Cove the Purchased Property, the landlord's interest in the farm lease of the Purchased Property, and the ROFR by instruments executed on March 30, 1999. *Id.* ¶ 2-3 [R, pp. 63-64].

13. Burns Concrete's president, Kirk Burns, established the following undisputed facts concerning the location, condition, and current and prospective uses of both the Purchased Property and ROFR Property:

The Purchased Property is located between and adjacent to two additional parcels (one 50 acres and the other 35 acres) owned by Burns Concrete, with all of the Purchased Property being on the north side of 81st South (Cotton Road) in Bonneville County and with four residential properties constructed along 81st South lying between it and the Purchased Property.

The ROFR Property is located across the road from Burns Concrete's 50-acre parcel on the south side of 81st South and to the west of the Purchased Property. Thus, not only is the ROFR Property not in any manner adjacent or physically "connected" to (nor directly across the road from) the Purchased Property, but the two properties share no common irrigation system or other utilities, have no common means of ingress or egress, and are subject to no common easements or restrictions by which one of the properties benefits the other. For these reasons, there is no requirement for or benefit in the consistent use of the two properties, whether for farming, residential development, mining of aggregate materials, or otherwise.

For the foregoing reasons, neither the value nor the use of the Purchased Property (or, for that matter, any of Burns Concrete's additional acreage) would in any manner be enhanced by Burns Concrete's ownership of the ROFR Property, nor would the Purchased Property otherwise be benefitted by common ownership of it and the ROFR Property.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Second Affidavit of Kirk Burns, filed February 15, 2017 ("2d Burns Aff.) [R, pp. 63-72].

2d Burns Aff. ¶¶ 4-7 (emphasis in original) [R, pp. 64-65].

- 14. By deed recorded by the Bonneville County Recorder on August 17, 2005, Mulberry and her now deceased husband conveyed the ROFR Property to their wholly owned limited liability company, TN Properties, *Complaint* ¶¶ 1 & 8 and Ex. 1 [R, pp. 8-9 & 13-14]; *Answer* ¶ 1 [R, p. 35].
- 15. At no time did either Canyon Cove or Burns Concrete receive written notice by anybody that either of them might purchase the ROFR Property. Wilkins Aff.<sup>5</sup> ¶¶ 1 & 3 [R, pp. 44-45]; Ist Burns Aff.<sup>6</sup> ¶¶ 1 & 3 [R, pp. 41-42].

### II. ISSUES PRESENTED ON APPEAL

- 1. Did the district court err in ruling that the ROFR was "extinguished" upon its assignment by Canyon Cove to Burns Concrete?
- 2. Did the district court err in ruling that Plaintiffs were the prevailing parties and awarding them their attorney fees and costs?
- 3. Are Defendants entitled to recover their attorney fees incurred on appeal pursuant to Idaho Code Section 12-120(3) and I.A.R. 41?

### III. LEGAL STANDARDS

As provided by I.A.R. 17(e)(1), the appeal of a final judgment or order "shall be deemed to include, and present an appeal: (A) All interlocutory judgments and orders entered prior to the judgment, order or decree appealed from, and . . . (C) All interlocutory or final judgments and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Affidavit of Linda Wilkins, filed September 8, 2016 ("Wilkins Aff.") [R, pp. 44-46].

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Affidavit of Kirk Burns, filed September 8, 2016 ("1st Burns Aff.") [R, pp. 41-43].

orders entered after the judgment or order appealed from except [for certain inapplicable orders]." Further, this Court established in *In re Estate of Keeven*, 110 Idaho 452, 716, P.2d 1224 (1986):

If there is a final appealable order in a case and appeal is properly taken from that order, then all other orders which would otherwise not be appealable may be considered by this Court. Therefore, on remand, the trial court can be correctly advised on the law as it relates to all the issues of the case. Otherwise, much judicial time and resources may be wasted because the parties might have to take another appeal in order to test those same interlocutory orders which this Court could have decided when it decided the final appealable orders in the first appeal.

*Id.* at 456-57, 716 P.2d 1228-29.

Summary judgment is an appropriate remedy if the nonmoving party's "pleadings, affidavits, and discovery documents . . . , read in a light most favorable to the nonmoving party, demonstrate no material issue of fact such that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law." *Thomson v. City of Lewiston*, 137 Idaho 473, 476, 50 P.3d 488, 491 (2002) (citing I.R.C.P. 56(c)). The Court must construe the evidence liberally and draw all reasonable inferences in favor of the nonmoving party. *Hei v. Holzer*, 139 Idaho 81, 84-85, 73 P.3d 94, 97-98 (2003). If the facts, with inferences favorable to the nonmoving party, are such that reasonable persons could reach differing conclusions, summary judgment is not available. *Hayward v. Jack's Pharmacy Inc.*, 141 Idaho 622, 625, 115 P.3d 713, 716 (2005). The moving party bears the initial burden of proving the absence of a genuine issue of material fact. *Id.* 

The present dispute arises out of the legal effect of the ROFR. The applicable standards with respect to this Court's construction of the ROFR are set forth in *Knipe Land Company v. Robertson*, 151 Idaho 449, 259 P.3d 595 (2011), as follows:

As provided by this Court in Potlatch Education Ass'n v. Potlach School District No. 285:

When interpreting a contract, this Court begins with the document's language. In the absence of ambiguity, the document must be construed in its plain, ordinary and proper sense, according to the meaning derived from the plain wording of the instrument. Interpreting an unambiguous contract and determining whether there has been a violation of that contract is an issue of law subject to free review. A contract term is ambiguous when there are two different reasonable interpretations or the language is nonsensical. Whether a contract is ambiguous is a question of law, but interpreting an ambiguous term is an issue of fact.

Whether an ambiguity exists in a legal instrument is a question of law, over which this Court exercises free review. Where a legal instrument is found to be unambiguous the legal effect must be decided by the district court as a matter of law; it is only when that instrument is found to be ambiguous that evidence as to the meaning of that instrument may be submitted to the finder of fact. "[E]vidence of custom or usage may not be introduced to vary or contradict the terms of a plain and unambiguous contract..."

Knipe Land Co., id. at 454-55, 259 P.3d at 600-01 (emphasis added) (internal and concluding citations omitted).

None of the parties asserted during this dispute that the ROFR is ambiguous and not subject to construction as a matter of a law. See also 1st MSJ Decision 12 ("The language of the

ROFR is plain and unambiguous.") [R, p. 58]. But cf. 2nd MSJ Decision 17 ("Because the ROFR does not clearly indicate whether the parties intended the right to be appurtenant to the Purchased Property or in gross, the ROFR is ambiguous as to that issue.") [R, p. 90].

Finally, to the extent the interpretation of the Judgment is at issue, its interpretation "is generally subject to the same rules applicable to construction of contracts." *McKoon v. Hathaway*, 146 Idaho 106, 109, 190 P.3d 925, 928 (Ct. App. 2008) (citations omitted).

### IV. ARGUMENT

# A. The ROFR Remains A "Live" Contract Irrespective Of Whether It Constitutes An Appurtenant Option Agreement Or A Personal Contract.

As its terms expressly provide, the ROFR was labeled by its parties to be an "option agreement" and intended to be recorded by the county recorder, Facts ¶ 6, and thereupon encumber the ROFR Property. Further, relying on multiple sections in the RESTATEMENT (THIRD) OF PROPERTY: SERVITUDES (2000) [hereinafter Restatement (Third)] the district court held the ROFR to be a servitude on the ROFR Property that ran with the land. <sup>7</sup> 2nd MSJ Decision 12 ("the burden placed on Plaintiffs' property runs with the land") [R, p. 85]; id. at 14 ("the ROFR in this case runs with the land and is a servitude.") [R, p. 87].

Defendants do not contest this holding by the district court because the contracting parties treated the ROFR as running with the ROFR Property by characterizing the ROFR as an "option agreement," rather than as a personal contract or a preemptive right, by recording the ROFR against the ROFR Property, and by providing for the recording of notices given under the ROFR. Facts  $\P$  6. However, in reaching this holding the district court missed the particular point Defendants argued below: that the ROFR was not a servitude on the *Purchased Property* and didn't run with that land.

Notwithstanding the district court's holding the ROFR was a servitude on the ROFR Property that ran with the land and the court's reliance on, and quotation of, *Restatement (Third)* § 1.5(3) ("'Personal' means that a servitude benefit or burden is not transferable and does not run with the land" (emphasis added)) in support of its holding, the district court also held that the ROFR was personal and could not be assigned to Burns Concrete. *Ist MSJ Decision* 12 ("a declaratory judgment that the ROFR was personal to the parties and cannot benefit Burns Concrete should be granted.") [R, p. 58]. Defendants therefore submit that the district court's error in holding the ROFR has been "extinguished" is at least partly the result of confusion over the meaning and legal effect of the terms "appurtenant," "in gross," and "personal."

Because Defendants have found no Idaho precedent articulating the relationship between "appurtenant," "in gross," and "personal" as they may relate to a right of first refusal with respect to the purchase of land, Defendants will summarize these three concepts below utilizing the same principal authority relied upon by both Plaintiffs and the district court, the *Restatement (Third)*. Before doing so, however, Defendants respectfully submit that there are but the following three alternative possibilities here in play, none of which support the conclusion that the ROFR was extinguished by its assignment to Burns Concrete:

• If the ROFR is not "personal" to Canyon Cove, then Burns Concrete may exercise the ROFR irrespective of whether it is "appurtenant" to the Purchased Property, which Burns Concrete owns.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> See 2nd MSJ Decision 11 [R, p. 84].

- If the ROFR is "personal" to Canyon Cove but not "appurtenant" to the Purchased Property, then Canyon Cove may exercise the ROFR if either (a) Canyon Cove's attempted assignment of the ROFR was void, or (b) if it was effective, Burns Concrete assigns the ROFR back to Canyon Cove by the deadline for its exercise.
- If the ROFR is both "personal" to Canyon Cove and "appurtenant" to the Purchased Property, then Canyon Cove may exercise the ROFR if both (a) Canyon Cove's attempted assignment of the ROFR was void or, if it was effective, Burns Concrete assigns the ROFR back to Canyon Cove by the deadline for the ROFR's exercise, and (b) Canyon Cove reacquires the Purchased Property by the deadline for the ROFR's exercise.

In sum, irrespective of whether the ROFR is held to be personal to Canyon Cove or appurtenant to the Purchased Property, it may yet be exercised in accordance with each of its express and implied terms. And that the ROFR is not "extinguished" under such circumstances is made manifest by the fact that there is but one known state or federal opinion deciding that a legal contract may be held void while it may yet be exercised in accordance with all of its applicable terms – an outlier opinion discussed and distinguished in part A(iv) below that the district court itself ruled was "insufficient to conclude that a personal ROFR is extinguished upon its invalid assignment." 2nd MSJ Decision 7 [R, p. 80].

 $<sup>^9</sup>$  I.e., within five days of Canyon Cove's receipt of written notice of the intended sale of the ROFR Property. Facts  $\P$  6.

(i) The Definitions of and Relations Between "Appurtenant," "In Gross," and "Personal" as Adopted by the Restatement.

The Restatement (Third) defines the terms "appurtenant," "in gross," and "personal" as follows:

- (1) "Appurtenant" means that the rights or obligations of a servitude are tied to ownership or occupancy of a particular unit or parcel of land. The right to enjoyment of an easement or profit, or to receive the performance of a covenant that can be held only by the owner or occupier of a particular unit or parcel, is an appurtenant benefit. A burden that obligates the owner or occupier of a particular unit or parcel in that person's capacity as owner or occupier is an appurtenant burden.
- (2) "In gross" means that the benefit or burden of a servitude is not tied to ownership or occupancy of a particular unit or parcel of land.
- (3) "Personal" means that a servitude benefit or burden is not transferable and does not run with land. Whether appurtenant or in gross, a servitude benefit or burden may be personal.

Restatement (Third) § 1.5 (emphasis added).

The relation between servitudes that are appurtenant, run with the land, and personal is explained in the comments to the foregoing section:

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