Uldaho Law

Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs, All

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

4-12-2018

Mulberry v. Burns Concrete, Inc. Respondent's Brief Dckt. 45184

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

Argument

A. The district court correctly held that the ROFR was personal to Canyon Cove and was appurtenant to the Purchased Property.

Appellants argue that the district court's holding that "the ROFR was a servitude on the ROFR Property that ran with the land" and its holding "that the ROFR was personal and could not be assigned to Burns Concrete" are inconsistent. Appellants' Brief, p. 12. In so arguing, Appellants point out that "[p]ersonal' means that a servitude benefit or burden is not transferable and does not run with the land." Appellants' Brief, p. 12 (internal citations omitted). What Appellants fail to recognize is that they are conflating two distinct holdings by the district court which are not at all inconsistent. The district court held that (1) the *burden* of the ROFR constituted a servitude on the *ROFR Property* that runs with the land; and (2) the *benefit* of the ROFR was personal to Canyon Cove and was appurtenant to the *Purchased Property*. (R., pp. 58 & 92).

1. The district court held that the "burden" of the ROFR runs with the ROFR Property.

In its 1st MSJ Decision, the district court held that that although the ROFR was personal to Canyon Cove as the grantee, it was not personal to Mulberry as the grantor, and that therefore "TN Properties, as donee, would be held subject to the ROFR in the same way that the Mulberrys were." (R., p. 60). In its 2nd MSJ Decision, the district court further clarified that the ROFR constitutes a servitude and that the *burden* of that servitude runs with the ROFR Property. (R., p. 85). In other words, the district court determined that the Mulberrys could not unilaterally extinguish the ROFR by conveying the ROFR Property

to a company wholly owned by them (TN Properties LLC). Appellants have (understandably) not challenged this holding.¹

In so holding, the district court noted the language of a comment to the Restatement (Third) of Property (Servitudes), which states: "These terms [benefit and burden] indicate only that some part of the covenant runs with some interest in land. They do not necessarily mean that both burden and benefit run, nor do they mean that the burden or benefit will run with all estates in the land or to all successors." (R., p. 84, quoting Restatement (Third) of Property (Servitudes) § 1.3 (2000), Comment a.). The district court's holding that the *burden* of the ROFR ran with the land (the ROFR Property), but that the *benefit* of the ROFR was personal to Canyon Cove and appurtenant to the Purchased Property, is not inconsistent.

Note that this does *not* mean that the ROFR will survive Nora Mulberry's death and a subsequent demise of the ROFR property to her heirs or devisees. If that were the case, a parcel of land could be passed down through a family for hundreds of years, with a ROFR perpetually attached to the property, to spring into effect when an heir eventually decided to sell. (Although this scenario would only come to pass if the ROFR expressly stated that the benefit of the ROFR could be passed to the grantee's successors and assigns, which, as will be discussed further below, is not the case here). In any event, that issue is not before this Court.

2. The "benefit" of the ROFR was personal to Canyon Cove.

The district court correctly held that the benefit of the ROFR was personal to Canyon Cove and could not be assigned to Burns Concrete.

The district court correctly started with the proposition that "[g]enerally all contract rights which are not 'personal' in nature may be assigned." (R., p. 57, quoting *Sinclair Mktg., Inc. v. Siepert*, 107 Idaho 1000, 1002, 695 P.2d 385, 387 (1985), quoting Williston on Contracts (3d ed.) § 412). The district court then went on to note that "[w]hether a right of first refusal is personal in nature appears to be a case of first impression in Idaho." (R., p. 57). The district court relied on secondary sources (Am.Jur. and C.J.S.) to determine that rights of first refusal should be interpreted as being personal in nature unless the contract expressly states otherwise. (R., p. 57). Mulberry directs this Court's attention to those sources as quoted in the district court's 1st MSJ Decision.

In addition, many courts around the country have held that the benefit of a right of first refusal is personal in nature unless explicitly made assignable in the document. For example, in *Malone v. Flattery*, the Court of Appeals of Iowa addressed the question for the first time and determined that "a right of first refusal is generally personal to the party who contracted for it absent language to the contrary." 2011 Iowa App. LEXIS 110 (Iowa Ct. App. 2011). The facts in that case were substantially similar to the facts in the case at bar. After noting that "the prevailing rule in this country is that rights of first refusal are not assignable unless the instrument indicates otherwise," the Iowa court went on to discuss some of the policy reasons that underlie that "widespread assumption." *Id.* at *7. The court

noted: "[Rights of first refusal] operate as a restraint on alienation, but unlike options do so in an undefined and indefinite way. Options generally have a value that can be ascertained; rights of first refusal may not. Because their very indefiniteness can impede the marketability of real estate, it is logical to construe them narrowly." *Id.* The court concluded: "Thus, it is fair to presume a party who grants a right of first refusal usually intends to give the right to the grantee only." *Id.*

Similarly, the Court of Appeals of Maryland discussed "the principle, applied in numerous cases, that rights of first refusal are presumed to be personal and are not ordinarily construed as transferable or assignable unless the particular cause granting the right refers to successors or assigns or the instrument otherwise clearly shows that the right was intended to be transferable or assignable." *Park Station L.P. v. Bosse*, 378 Md. 122, 137, 835 A.2d 646, 655 (Ct. App. 2003). The court went on to summarize similar holdings from other jurisdictions:

See, e.g., Roemhild v. Jones, 239 F.2d 492, 495 (8th Cir. 1957) (The owner "could only offer the land for sale during his lifetime. * * * There is no language in the reservation stating that the [right of first refusal] runs to the heirs or assignees"); Vogel v. Melish, 31 Ill. 2d 620, 622, 624-625, 203 N.E.2d 411, 412-414 (1964) (Right of first refusal if owner "desired to sell" is "a restraint on the alienation of the" property "and consequently is to be strictly construed. * * * It is unreasonable to assume that the parties intended it to survive the death of either of them . . . when no provision for that contingency is made in the agreement, other than the . . . general terms of paragraph 6 [which was the same as paragraph 10 of the agreement in the present case]"); Barnhart v. McKinney, 235 Kan. 511, 513, 519, 682 P.2d 112, 114, 119 (1984) (The contract contained a clause similar to paragraph 10 of the contract in the case at bar, and the court held that the right of first refusal could not "be passed on to the heirs and assigns of the Barnharts," that "it was personal to the Barnharts," and that, therefore, the "event [that] would trigger [the] preemptive right of purchase [would occur] well within a term not violative of the rule against perpetuities"); Fisher v. Fisher, supra, 23 Mass. App. at 206, 500 N.E.2d at 822 (The right of first refusal "was extinguished by William's death," as the clause granting the right did "not contain words such as heirs or assigns but speaks in personal terms"); Kershner v. Hurlburt, 277 S.W.2d 619, 623 (Mo. 1955)("The instant contract, reasonably construed, does not violate the rule against perpetuities because the rights [of first refusal] conferred by it are personal to the holders thereof and terminated at their deaths"); Nickels v. Cohn, 764 S.W.2d 124, 132-133 (Mo. App. 1989) (Same); Bloomer v. Phillips, 164 A.D.2d 52, 55, 562 N.Y.S.2d 840, 842 (1990); Old National Bank of Washington v. Arneson, 54 Wn. App. 717, 723, 776 P.2d 145, 148 (1989) ("preemptive rights are generally construed to be nontransferable"); Sweeney v. Lilly, 198 W.Va. 202, 205, 479 S.E.2d 863, 866 (1996); In the Matter of Wauka, Inc., 39 B.R. 734, 737-738 (N. D. Ga. 1984); Mitchell, Can A Right of First Refusal Be Assigned?, supra, 68 U. Chi. L. Rev. at 994; 3 Corbin On Contracts, § 11.15 at 587 (Rev. Ed. 1996).

Id., 378 Md. at 137-138, 835 A.2d at 655.

This Court should follow the majority rule and hold that rights of first refusal are personal and not assignable unless the agreement creating the right of first refusal expressly states otherwise. In the instant case, this means that the ROFR was personal to Canyon Cove and was not assignable to Burns Concrete. The ROFR could have included language stating that it was assignable (or binding on each party's heirs, successors, and assigns), as contracts in Idaho often do. It did not include such language.

3. The "benefit" of the ROFR was appurtenant to the Purchased Property.

Servitudes, such as rights of first refusal, can be either appurtenant or in gross. Restatement (Third) of Property (Servitudes) § 1.5 (2000). This can apply to either the benefit or the burden of a servitude, or both. *Id.* at Comment a. A servitude is appurtenant "if it serves a purpose that would be more useful to a successor to a property interest held by the original beneficiary of the servitude at the time the servitude was created than it would be to the original beneficiary after transfer of that interest to a successor." *Id.* at § 4.5(1)(a).

In the instant case, the "original beneficiary" of the ROFR, Canyon Cove, obtained a property interest in the Purchased Property at the same time as the execution of the ROFR. It seems obvious that the ROFR on the ROFR Property would be "more useful" to a subsequent owner of the Purchased Property than it would be to Canyon Cove after it no longer owned the Purchased Property. "More useful" is an extremely broad phrase. There are numerous ways in which property across the street and one parcel over from a person's own property would be "more useful" to that person than to someone not owning any property nearby.

Appellants note that "this Court has resorted to Idaho's law applicable to easements in deciding whether other rights related to property are" appurtenant or in gross. Appellants' Brief, p. 17. Appellants cite *Joyce Livestock Co. v. United States of America*, in which this Court "reasoned by analogy from appurtenant easements, holding that water rights and easements were sufficiently similar to have the relevant law applicable to RESPONDENT'S BRIEF - 12

appurtenant easements apply to appurtenant water rights." 144 Idaho 1, 13, 156 P.3d 502, 514 (2007). Based on that, Appellants argue that this Court should apply to rights of first refusal the rule applicable to easements: that they are appurtenant if they "serve[] the owner of that land in a way that cannot be separated from his rights in the land." Appellants' Brief, p. 18, quoting *Abbott v. Nampa School District No. 131*, 119 Idaho 544, 550, 808 P.2d 1289, 1295 (1991).

Appellants' argument is not well-founded. Unlike with water rights, there has been no holding by this Court that rights of first refusal are sufficiently similar to easements to reason by analogy and apply the same concepts to rights of first refusal as to easements. Both easements and water rights give a holder of land the right to enter onto and use property of another for certain purposes. A right of first refusal gives the holder no right to access or use the burdened parcel. It simply means that they may have a right to buy it in the future if certain conditions are met. The general "more useful" rule applicable to servitudes makes more sense in the context of a right of first refusal than does the "cannot be separated from his rights in the land" rule applicable to easements. Accordingly, this Court should find that the ROFR in this matter was appurtenant to the Purchased Property, and that it was no longer exercisable by Canyon Cove after it sold the Purchased Property.

Because the ROFR was personal to Canyon Cove, the assignment of the ROFR to Burns Concrete is void. Burns Concrete cannot exercise the ROFR. Because the ROFR is appurtenant to the Purchased Property and Canyon Cove divested itself of that property, Canyon Cove also cannot exercise the ROFR. The district court's decisions on summary

judgment and the motion for reconsideration should be upheld by this Court.

B. The district court correctly held that the Plaintiffs were the prevailing parties and properly awarded Plaintiffs their fees and costs.

Appellants argue that Mulberry did not prevail before the district court because a judgment was entered dismissing her claims. Appellants' Brief, p. 30. Appellants fail to mention that the judgment was based on an underlying order finding that Mulberry's "remaining claims" were moot. (R., p. 94). Mulberry's "remaining claims" were moot precisely because she had already obtained the relief she sought in her Complaint – that the ROFR could not be exercised by Defendants-Appellants.

Idaho Rule of Civil Procedure 54(d)(1)(B) states that "[i]n determining which party to an action is a prevailing party and entitled to costs, the trial court shall in its sound discretion consider the final judgment or result of the action in relation to the relief sought by the respective parties." I.R.C.P. 54(d)(1)(B). "The determination of who is a prevailing party is committed to the sound discretion of the trial court, and [appellate courts] will not disturb that determination absent an abuse of discretion." *Lower Payette Ditch Co. v. Harvey*, 152 Idaho 291, 295-296, 271 P.3d 689, 693-694 (2012). In determining whether or not the trial court has abused its discretion, Idaho appellate courts analyze: "(1) whether the trial court correctly perceived the issue as one of discretion; (2) whether the trial court acted within the outer boundaries of this discretion and consistently with the legal standards applicable to the specific choices available to it; and (3) whether the trial court reached its decision by an exercise of reason." *Farm Credit Bank v. Wissel*, 122 Idaho 565, 568, 836 P.2d 511, 514 (1992).

In this case, the district court recognized that the determination of who was the prevailing party was within the discretion of the Court. (R., p. 123). The court reviewed case law and then proceeded to reason and hold: "This Court's declaration that the ROFR was extinguished and non-binding was in accordance with the relief sought by Plaintiffs. Although Plaintiffs' complaint was, upon Plaintiffs' motion, thereafter dismissed as moot, Defendants cannot be said to have prevailed in the matter. Plaintiffs ultimately received the result they sought – a determination that the ROFR was not assignable." (R., p. 129). The district court acted within the outer boundaries of its discretion and consistently with applicable legal standards, and reached its decision by an exercise of reason. The award of attorney fees and costs should be affirmed.

Conclusion

For the foregoing reasons, Mulberry respectfully requests that the Court affirm the district court's *Memorandum Decision and Order Re: Motion for Partial Summary Judgment*, *Memorandum Decision and Order Re: Motion for Reconsideration*, and *Memorandum Decision and Order Re: Attorney Fees and Costs*. Mulberry also respectfully requests an award of her attorney fees and costs incurred on appeal.